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Defendant Freeman Jockisch began-amaé correspondence with someone
he believed to be a fearold girl who, claiming to be bored, had advertised
under the “casual encounters” page on Craigslist. Dtinisge mail
correspondence, Defendant samliltiple times that he wanted to make love to the
young woman, who identified herself as Sara. Eventually, the two agreed to meet
and Defendartraveledto the address Sara provideto Defendant’s surprise
when he arrived at the appointed time and place fdrdisen, Sara was not
awaiting him, but police officers were. Learning that he had been part of an
undercover sting, Defendant was arrested

Defendant was indicted for violatiri® U.S.C. £422(b)" which prohibits
useof the Internet to attempt f@ersuade minor to engage in sexual activihat
had it been consummated, coblaveresulted in criminal chargesderstateor
federallaw. The indictment listed thre&labamastatuteghat Defendant could

have been charged with violating had he consummated a sexual act with the minor

1 18 U.S.C. § 242D) provides:

Whoever, using the mail or any facility or means of interstate or foreign
commerce, or within the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the
United States knowingly persuades, induces, entices, or coerces any
individual who has not attained the age of 18 years, to engage in
prostitution or any sexual activity for which any person can be charged
with a criminal offense, or attempts to do so, shall be fined under this title
and imprisoned not less than 10 years or for life.

The indictment listall four verbs in § 2422(b)persuade, induce, entice, and coerce. For ease
of referencewe typically use “persuade” as shahd for all four verbs, but alsoauthe terms
“persuade,” “induce,” and “entice” interchangeably.
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girl: Alabama Code § 138-62 (Rape in theéSecondDegree) 8§ 13A-6-64
(Sodomy in theSecondDegree) and§ 13A-6-67 (SexualAbuse in thésecond
Degree) Defendant went to trial andfedeal jury convicted him on the above
charge.

On appealPefendantargues thathe district court erred byefusingto
instruct the jury that it must unanimously agaseowhich of theabovethree sex
actsDefendantvould have attempted to persuade thi@or girl to perform, had he
not been interrupted by arresting officarsl had there been a real giwe
conclude thattte district court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Defendant’s
proposed unanimity instruction

. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On July 2 2013, OfficerJames Morton, posing as a{&arold girl named
“Sara,” posted a personal ad on Crhgf's “casual encountérpage The ad
titled “BORED TO TEARS-w4m,”? stated, “I'm bored and everyone is out of the
house till Saturday. So you chie hit me[up] or whatever. | may have a friend
come over and hang but it aithe same.”Within a half hour, Defendant repli¢d
Sara’s ad;SEND ME A PICTURE AND LETS DO IT, OK. Sararesponded one
minute later, “hey. do you have like a pic 2Réfendant senaraa photo of

himself.

2 The abbreviation “w4m” is shorthand for “woman seeking a man.”
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Defendantheninsisted tlat Sara sendim a photo of herselfSara initially
ignoredDefendant’'sdemands. Shalso told Defendant that her family was out of
town for the week and that she was home al@wra then sent Defendant a head
shot. Defendant asked Sarald'you want me to make love to @l When
Defendant suggested that they meetSgratold Defendant that she could not
drive because sheas only 15 years old. Defendant then told Sarastinais a
“pretty lady” and that he would “make her feel goo[dfara asked Defendant
how he would make her feel good, and he responded, “bynmbdve to you is
that alright[?]

Defendant enailed Saraagain asking how old she wals the midst of e
mails discussing possible times to meet up, &stated that she was 15 years old.
Defendantequested a fulbody photo of Sara. She refused, claiming thatahe
not like the way she lookedA few minutedater, Defendant wrote Sara,’sugar,

I am kind of scared if you are just 15, they will put me under the jBiefendant
and Saragreed to keep thgiannedrendezvous a secret, and &&ald Defendant
the neighborhood she lived. ilDefendant renewed his requista full-body
photo, but Sara refused. Tbenversatiorended.

Again posing as Sar@fficer Morton posted a second Craigslist ad on
November 2, 2013. The ad, titlelddlloween was lame w4m,” staed “My

Halloween was so lame.ow my weekend anthis week just got boring before it
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even like starts. There aint nothing to do or anyone who wants to do anything.
Bored.” Eleven days later, Defendant replied to the ad, “i want to make love to
you’; he also providedis phone numberDefendant and $a exchangeé-mails.
Defendant rd&ed that Sara was the sameyiEarold girl he had been-mailing

in July. Defendant asked if he could visit Sara a@partment.Citing her

mother’s presen¢&ara declinedbut suggestethat they meet ovehe weekend
instead.

The two didnot communicate fomore than a weekDefendanthenre-
initiated the conversatiorSara provided her cghhone number and Defendant
called her After the call, Sar@-mailed Defendant her address and Defendant
replied, “I AM MY WAY.” Police detainedefendant wen hearrived at the
address Sara provideand hevas later arrested.

Defendant was indicted on one counvmiating 18 U.S.C. 8422b).
Specifically, the indictment charged that Defendantdteemptedo persuaden
individual whan he believed to be minor to engage in sexual activityhich, had
it occurredcould have resulted in state criminal chargesresd Defendant under
AlabamaCode§ 13A-6-62 (seconelegree rapeg 13A-6-64 (secondlegree

sodomy), o8 13A-6-67 (seconglegree sexual abuse).

3 Officer Morton’s female colleague pretended to be Sara during the phone call.
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[I. DISCUSSION

A. Defendant’s Contention

Defendant appeals his conviction, arguing that the district court erred in
refusing to give his requested instruction that the jury be unanimoushes to
paticular state statute Defendant would have ultimately attempted to violate
Defendant had requested that the following instruction be given to the jury:

If, as in this case, the Defendant is accused of having attempted to

violate several state statutes which are incorporated by reference in

the indictment, your verdict must be unanimous with regard to the
attempted violation of at least one of them.

In other words, if after considering all of the evidence, all twelve

of you have not made a unanimousedetination that the

defendant attempted to violate Code of Alabama-6&HR (rape in

the second degree); and/or 1844 (sodomy in the second

degree); and/or 138-67 (sexual abuse in the second degree) then

you must find the defendant not guilty.

Thedistrict court declined to give the proposed instruction, explairihg:
think the evidence just has to show that he was trying to entice herengage in
some sort of sexual activity that would be a crime if it were completegnder
the law ofAlabama. And these [three crimes in the indictment] are just
illustrative.”

The court instead instructed the jury that in order to convict Defendant under

§ 2422(b), the jurors must unanimously find thét) “the defendant knowingly

used the internet to attempt to persuade, induce, entice, or coerce an individual
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under the age of 18 years of age to engage in unlawful sexual activity”; (2) “the
defendant believed that such individual was less than 18 years of age”; and (3) “if
the sexual activity had occurred, the defendant could have been charged with a
criminal offense under the laws of Alabama.” The court then spelled out for the
jury the elements of each of the three sex offenses set out in the indictment.
We review a district court’s rejection of a proposed jury instruction for an
abuse of discretionUnited States v. Lebowitz, 676 F.3d 1000, 1014 (11th Cir.
2012). “A district court’s failure to give a requested jury instruction is an abuse of
discretion if the requested instruction ‘(1) was correct, (2) was not substantially
covered by the charge actually given, and (3) dealt with some point in the trial so
important that failure to give the requested instruction seriously impaired the
defendant’s ability to conduct his defenseUhited Sates v. Browne, 505 F.3d
1229, 1276 (11th Cir. 2007) (quotihinited Sates v. Eckhardt, 466 F.3d 938,
947-48 (11th Cir. 2006)). We resolve Defendant’s appeal on the first prong of this
test That is, we conclugthat his requestedstructiondid not constitute correct
statement of the law.
B. When a defendant has attempted to persuade a minor to engage

in sexual activity that could potentially violate multiple criminal

statutes, the jury is not required to unanmously agree as to which

statute the defendant’s completed conduct would have violated so

long as the jury unanimously agrees that the sexual activityeing
encouraged would violate one of these statutes.
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Defendant used thaternet to attempt to persuade a person whom he
believed to be a minor to engagea sex act to bperformedn the State of
Alabama. His conduct was sufficient to violate422(b) if thecompleted sexual
activity he attempted to induce would have constituted a criminaisgfender the
laws of Alabama.As noted, the indictment listed three Alabama statutes that
Defendant could have potentially been charged with had he engaged in sexual
activity with al5-yearold girl: Section 13A6-62(a)(1) Rape in the &ond
Degred makes it a crime to engage in sexual intercourse with a member of the
opposite sex who is less than 16 and more thareass old® “Sexual intercourse”
Is defined as having “its ordinary meaning and occurs upon any penetration,
however slight .. ” Ala. Code § BA-6-60(1). Section13A-6-64(a)(1) (Sodomy
in the Second Degrgerohibits deviate sexual intercourse with another person
who is less than 18nd more than 12 years dldDeviate sexual intercourse is
defined as “[a]nyact of sexual gratification between persant married to each
other involving the sex organs of one person and the mouth or anus of another.”
United States v. Owens, 672 F.3d 966, 969 (11th Cir. 2012) (cititp. Code
§ 13A-6-60(2)). Finally, 813A-6-67(a)(2) (Sexual Abusén the Second Degrie

makes it a crime for a person to subject to sexual conduct a person who is less than

* The statute requires that the actor be at least 16 years old and at least svaddgeahan the
“victim.” Defendant wa$9 years old at the time of the offense.

® This statute requires that the actor be at leastetss old.
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16 but more than 1gears old® “Sexual conduct” is defined as “[a]ny touching of
the sexual or other intimate parts of a person not married to the actor, done for the
purpose of gratifying the sexual desire of either parBettibone v. Sate, 91 So.
3d 94, 117 (2011) (citing Ala. Code § 1-8A60(3)).

Theabovestatutory violations listed in the indictmesgeminglycapturethe
range ofillicit sexual conduct that could be covered by the phrdseant tomake
love to yoy’ when those words are being uttered by an adult male who is trying to
enticea 15-yearold girl to meet with him.Defendant, however, argues that the
jury was required tpick out andunanimously agree as to whioheof the three
listed sexual actisewasactually attemptingo persuade Sata commit In other
words, if some jurorbelieved thaDefendanintendedo entice Sara to engage in
sexual intercourse, while others leaned toward the possibility that Defendant’s
preferred sex act might have béeleviaté intercourse, whilestill otherjurors
believed thaDefendantwould have sought only sexual contdating his meeting
with Sarathen according to Defendant, he would be guilty of no crime at all. He
makes this argument even though any one of the amsevouldviolate Alabama
law, andtherebyrender him guilty of violating 2422(b) and even though thary
in the above hypothetical would have unanimously concluded that Defendant had

attempted to persuade the minor to engage in sexual activity that constitutes a

® For this statute, the actor must be at least 19 years old.
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violation of Alabama state lawwVe find Defendant’s argument unpersuasive.

As to the legbhpremise underlyingis position, Defendartorrectly notes
that a jurycannot convict unless it has unanimously fotivat each element of a
criminal offense has been proved beyond a reasonable. doubtrue thata jury
in a federal criminal case cannot convict unless it unanimously finds that the
Government has proved eagdbment [of the offense].” Richardson v. United
Sates, 526 U.S. 813, 817 (1999) (emphasis addéd)the same time, not every
fact importam to a determination of guilt constitutes an element of the offense.

And as to any fact that is not an element, unanimity by jurors as to the proof of that
fact is not required. Specifically, a jury need not unanimously decide “which of
several possiblsets of underlying brute facts make up a particular element, say,
which of several possibleeans the defendant used to commit an element of the
crime.” 1d. (emphasis added).

In short, if a fact is an element, the jury must unanimously agree that this
fact has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt; but if a particular fact is nothing
more than a possible means by which a defendant met an element of the offense,
then no unanimity is required. Not surprisingly, Defendant argues that the
particular state statute that he would have violated had he succeeded in his plan to
engage irsexual activity with Sara is an element. More specifically, he contends

that when the jury is given a choice of possiieninal statutes implicated by a

10
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defendant’s attempted conduct, it must pick the right one, and do so unanimously.
He cites to the Supreme Court’s decisioRiichardson, supra, in support of his
argument.Both in its legal reasoning and in the type of statute it was examining,
however Richardson is distingushable.

In Richardson, the defendant had been convicted of violating the federal
continuing crinnal enterprise statute (CCE), which prohibits a violation of a
federal drug statutaspart of a continuing series tédderal drugrviolations and
whichrequires the imposition oheenhancedinimum 2Qyear sentenceSee 21
U.S.C 8§ 848@). The Supreme Court assumed tlegbrovea continuing series of
violations the Government must prove thefendanhadcommitted at least three
suchprior violations Richardson, 526 U.S.at818. Because the case before the
Court spanned a sewgear period of timgthe Government had introduced
evidence of numerous drug transactions that could potentially qualify as part of a
continuing series of violationgAt issue was whether the jury hadcdl from this
long list of transactions at least three particular transadiatg could
unanimouslyagreeconstituteda violation of federal drug law. The Supreme Court
heldthat thgury mustdo sobecause theonstructive statutory requirement of at
least three prior drug offenses was an element of the offense.

Clearly, the Supreme Court wasamininga very different type of statute

than the one at issue here. As the Court notedpdhticulalguestion conerning

11
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unanimity was before it only because the statute required proof of mpltipie

crimes and because the Government had introduced evidence that the defendant
may havecommitted more of these crimes than was “legally necessary to make up
a ‘series” Id. In other words, &d the Government introduced evidence of only
three potential transactions, the jury’s unanimous veadiigtiilt would necessarily
have demonstratedsitonclusionthat these three transactions constituted

violations of federal drug law. But given the proohoimerous potential

violations of the law,iie Gurtrejectedthe Government’'argumenthat the jury
merely had to agree that the defendant had committed three such prior drug crimes,
withoutalsohaving to agree about whichcts among multipléransactions
constitutedhe threeprior offenses Id. Without proofthat the defendant had
committed three prior predicate crimes, there could be no CCE violation. But if
the jurywerenot required tdreat the commission of three prior violations as an
elementthe Court fearedhatwith a defendamivho has been involved in
numerousacts that could potentially constitute a crimimalation, thejury might

be prondo “avoid discussion of thepecific factual detasl of each violatiori,
permitting“wide disagreemeramong the jurors about just what the defendant did,
or did not, do.” Id. at 819. In such a scenatrio, the potential for unfairness looms,
as the jurymight simply squint at all the evidence and conclude, thdh so much

bad conduct, “where there is smoke there must be fig.”

12



Case: 14-13577 Date Filed: 05/26/2017 Page: 13 of 30

In this case, however, glmperativestatute does not require the commission
of aparticularnumber of prior crimes, such that precisisnequired to ensure that
the Government lsamet its burden of provinthata defendantnvolved in a lot of
shady dealingw/as actually guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of committing the
requisite number of those crimes. In fact, 8§ 2422(b) does not require that the
defendant commit angrior crime at allnor that the defendant actually engage in
any unlawful sexual activitwith the minor’ Instead, “§ 2422(b)’s underlying
proscribed criminal conduct is the ‘persuasion, inducement, enticement, or
coercion of the minorather than the sex act itself.”  United Satesv. Yost, 479
F.3d 815, 819 n.3 (11th Cir. @9 (emphasisdded) (quotindgnited Satesv.

Murrell, 368 F.3d 1283, 1286 (11th Cir. 2004%e also United Satesv. Lee, 603

’ Indeedthe defendant need not eviem the person with whom the defendant attempts to
persuade the minor to engage in sexual relations. Section 2422(b) prohibits a person from
persuading, inducing, enticing, or coercing a minor to engage in sexual adtviwtich any
person can be charged with a criminal offengeimphasis added), or attempting to do so.
Accordingly, a defendant could be found guilty of violating this statute if benpted to, or
actually did, persuade a minor that she should engage in an unlawful sex act with one of the
defendant’s friends.

8 Given this definition of thactus rea, Defendan® requested instruction was not a correct
statement of the law because Defendant requested an instruction direxjumy that it must
unanimously determine that he attemptedolate a particular state statute. As explaijtbere

is no requirement thha defendanattemptto violate a statuteSection 2422(b) only requires that
a defendanattempt toenticea minor to engage in an act that would be illegal. Thus, even
assuming merit ilDefendant’s argument that the jury had to be unanimous as partieular
statute involved, his requested instruction nonetheless indgrséatied the law

13
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F.3d 905, 916 (11th Cir. 2018)Thus, “if a persomersuaded a minor to engage
In sexual conduct. .without then actually committing any sex act himself, he
would nevertheless violate § 2422(bMurrell, 368 F.3d at 1286.

In addition, the statute covers not just the agheasuaion ofa minor to
engage in sexual activitput also an attempt tio so. A defendant is guilty of
atempt when (1) he has a specific intent to engage in the criminal conduct for
which he is charged and (2) he took a substantial step toward commission of the
offense.|d. at 1286. Thus, a defendant charged with attempting to violate
§ 2422Db) can be founduilty upon proof that he attempted to persuade, entice, or
induce a minor to engage in an unlawful sexual bkttt.Moreover, the existence of
“an actual minor victim is not required for an attempt conviction under 8§ 2422(b),”
United Statesv. Lanzon, 639 F.3d 1293, 1299 (11th Cir. 2011) (quotihgted
Satesv. Root, 296 F.3d 1222, 1227 (11th Cir. 20§Xo long ashedefendant
“intended to cause assémin the part o minorand “took a substantial step

toward causing assent, not towaalising actual sexual contactd. (citation

° Thisinterpretation of the statuteas garneretiroad support among our sister circuifise,

e.g., United States v. Dwinells, 508 F.3d 63, 71 (1st Cir. 2007) (“Section 2422(b) criminalizes an
intentional attempt to achieven@ntal state—a minor’'s assertregardless of the accused’s
intentions vis-avis the actual consummation of sexual activities with the niijdgnited States

v. Thomas, 410 F.3d 1235, 1244 (10th Cir. 2005) (“Section 2422(b) requires only that the
defendant intend to entice a minor, not that the defendant intend to commit the underlyihg sexua
act.”); United States v. Pierson, 544 F.3d 933, 939 (8th Cir. 2008t is sufficient for the
government to prove that the defendant intended to persuade or entice a minor to engage in
illegal sexual activity.”) United States v. Bailey, 228 F.3d 637, 639 (6th Cir. 2000) (“Hence, a
conviction under the statute only requires a finding that the defendant had an intesti&eper

or to attempt to persuade.”).

14
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omitted).

The distinctions between the two statutes are important beRainsedson
was driven by a close textual analysis &48(c) which defines the term
“continuing criminal enterprise.In particula, theSupreme Court emphasized that
it construed 848(c)to require that the defendant have actually committed at least
three previousiolations of fe@ral criminal drug law. Section 2422(b) articulates
no comparableequirement Instead, 8§ 2422(b) qaires that the defendant attempt
to induce a minor to engage in sexual activity that would violate state or federal
law. There is no dispute that Defendamanged for a meeting with someone he
thoughtto be a minor girf® and that he did so for the pase of persuading her to
allow him to “make love” to her. The usual meaning most people vattridute
to thatphraseds probably “sexual intercourse.” But the phrase “making love”
could also conceivably includkeviatesexual intercourse or sexual conta&nd it
Is undisputedhat any one of the above three sex acts, when engaged in with a
minor, would violate § 2422(b).

To recap,m Richardson, the defendant had engaged in a multitude of acts,

butto be convictedfoa CCE offense, the Government had to prove that the

19" At one point in his enrail conversation with Sara, Defendant acknowledged his concern that
he might be put “under the jail,” given Sara’s age. That concern, however, did not slow him
down when Sara finally gave him her address. Receiving that informBgtendant

responded, “I AM MY WAY,” andmmediately scurried to theddress to meet with Sara,

where he was arrested.

15
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defendant hadctually committedht least three prior drug offenses. The Supreme
Court concluded that absent a unanimous veagjateing orat least threspecific
prior actsthatconstituted a drugi@lation, the jury’s assessment of the evidence
would be too unfocused, leading to the possibility that the defendant could be
convicted based on just the jurgst feeling that, given all the defendant’s
misconducthemust have engaged in at letdseeviolations of the law. The risk
of unfairness thatoncernedhe Supreme Court in a prosecution under 8%
notarise in a prosecution for attempted enticement, nor does it arise under the
specific facts of this casdHere, the only evidence concerning the sexual activity
Defendant had in mindashis own words, and he disputes none of those words.
So long as the jury concluded théten Defendandaid he wanted to make love to
Sara, hentended tdry to persuade her tengage ireithersexual intercourse,
deviatesexual intercours@r sexual contacthere coulde no verdicbther than
guilty—because each of these three acts violates Alabamailaevthe jury
obviously so concluded.

Indeed, indiscussinghe distinction between an element and the means of
satisfying an elemenRichardson provides arexample thasupports our
conclusion that the jury did not have to unanimowdsgidewhich ofthethree
state statutes would be violated by Defendant’s intended conduct, so lhg as

twelve jurors agreethatDefendant intendetb persuade the minor to engage in

16
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sexual conduct thatould violate at leastne of them.526 U.S. at 817.

Specifically, n noting that jury is not required to decide unanimously which of
several means@efendant has used toramitan element of the crim&ichardson

posed the example of a robbery statute containing an element requiring that the
defendant have used force or the threat of force. With such a statute, the Supreme
Court stated, “some jurors might conclude that the defendant used a knife to create
the threat; others might conclude he used a gun. But that disagreesnent
disagreement about meanwould not matter as long as all 12 jurors unanimously
concluded that the Government had proved #eessary related element, namely

tha the defendant had threatened forckl’ Similarly, in Schad v. Arizona, 501

U.S. 624 (1991), the Supreme Court upheld as constitutional a general verdict of
guilt as to a first degree murder charge in which the alternative statutory theories of
premediated or felony murder were charged. In rejecting an argument that the jury
had to unanimously agree as to which theory had pemmd, the plurality

opinion noted that the Court’s precedent had held that a murdactom was

valid even though the indictment charged that the death occurred through both
shooting and drowningneaning that ananimous verdict wasotrequired as to

which method actually caused the victim’s dedth. The Courtfurtherstated,

“We have never suggested that in returning general verdicts in such cases the

jurors should be required to agree upon a single means of comméassiomgre

17
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than the indictments were required to specify one alone. . . .‘[D]ifferent jurors
may be prsuaded by different pieces of evidence, even when they agree upon the
bottom line.” Id. at 63132 (emphasis added).

So itis in this case. Fleshing out the Supreme Court’s robbery example,
assume a bank robber whose intended and attempted crime is foiled as he is about
to enter the bank. When arrested, the defendant is found to be armed with both a
machete and a guri.he jurycannotbe sure which weapon the wothié robber
would have brandished when demanding money. Some jurors may lean toward the
gun; others may be partial to thinking the defendant might inatead displayed
the machete. And of course, how garorsbe certairwhen thedefendant,
himself,maynot haveknownwhich weapon he would pull at the crucial monfent
But the inevitableuncertaintyabout which weapon the defendant would have
ultimately brandishedvhichcouldwell promptalack of unanimity byajury on
this same pointdoes not mean that the defendant’s act of attempted robbery
therebyevaporatsinto the ether.Stated another waygbause the particular
weapon thathe cefendant may hawdtimately usd to commit the crnewould
have only beea means ofhreatening force, whicvas the element of the crime
unanimityas to the means envisioned by the defendastnot required.

Similarly here, Defendant clearly intended to persuade a miresrgage in

sexual activity. We know this because he statedeatedlythat he wanted to make

18
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love to the young girl and he was arrested when he arrived at her apartment for
their liaisonarrangedor just this purposeGranted of the threesex actdisted in

the indictmentone cannot know fasurewhich particular sex ad@efendant might
have ultimately attempted to entice the girl to perform, had circumstance
permitted him to do so. Like the robbery example above, Defendant, himself, may
have been unsure exactly whieéxact he would have ultimately pursu&dth his

final decisionlikely dependhg on hisown mood at the momemtf seductionas

well asthe willingnesof the girl as tdhe particular sex act she wagreeable to

But the particular sex act thatfendanmight have ultimatelattempted to induce

Is only the means of satisfying the element in this casattampt to persuade

minor to engage in an unlawful sex act. As long as the jury could unanimously
conclude thaDefendantvas attempting to persuade Sara to perfaome

unlawful sex aet-whichever one of the threentight haveurnedout to be—the

jury could properly find Defendant guilty of violating § 2422(b). Aaydry could
reasonably conclude thédite conductinderlyinganyoneof the three Alabama
statutesvould be deemed to constitute an act of making love, which is what
Defendant indicated he wanted towlith Sara The fact that jury might notbe
absolutely surevhich precise sex act Defendant would have actually pursued at th

critical moment does not thereby immunize him from convidiworattempting to

19
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violate § 2422(b)if the jury ould reasonably infer thatnyof theseacts would
have been unlawfuf

We are not alonenireaching the above conclusiofihe Sixth Circuit
addressed the same argumeritnited States v. Hart, 635 F.3d 850, 85%6 (6th
Cir. 2011) and we find that court’s reasoning to be persuasivéiath the
defendanhad communicated via theternet with someone he thought to kheta
yearold female, but who was in reality an undercover detectideat 853. After
sexually explicit conversations, the defendant set up a date with the young girl at a
bowling alley. Id. When he arrived there, he was arrested and later charged with
violating § 2422(b).Id. The indictmentllegedthat defendant had attempted to
persuade a minor to engage in sex acts that were in violation of the law, and listed
two Kentucky statutes that would have been violated by the sex acts that were the
object ofthe defendant’attemptedoersuasion: sexual intercourse with a person
under tle age ofl6 and sodomy (odeviatesexual intercourse) with someone

under the age df6. Id. at 854. The elements of these Kentucky statwates

1 The logical import of Defendant’s argument is to require the Government to chebegag
Alabama statuten which torest a charge of attempted enticement ugda$22(b). But had the
Government followed Defendant’s apparent leadiarite indictmentistedonly the Alabama
statute prohibitingexual intercoursdor examplepne can reasonably predict tlaatrial

Defendant would have tried to whipsaw the Governmermirgyng that the jury should acquit
because itould not be sure that Defendant intended to entice the minor girl to engay@iah
intercourse, as opposedadlifferentunlawful sexual act noset out in the indictmentSchad,

supra, noted that just as the jury does not have to unanimously agree on a single means of
committingan offense, the indictment is likewise not required to specify just one means alone.
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virtually identical to those of its Alabantaunterpartéisted in the indictment in
this case. Similar to Defendant’s contentilmhis casend relying on
Richardson, the defendanh Hart argued that the jury should hanexeived an
“augmented” uanimity instructionthatrequiredit to identify on a verdict form
which Kentucky statute it unanimously concluded the defendant had violdted.
at 85455.

For the same reasons we conclude that a unanimity instruction was not
requiredin the present casthe Sixth Circuit rejected the defendant’s argument to
the contrary Noting that the listed Kentucky criminal offessge not elements of
the federal offense, in contrast to the prior convictions that were an element of a
CCE offense irRichardson, the court held: “The government need only prove,
and the jury unanimously agree, that the defendant attempted to persuade a minor
to engage in sexual activity that would have been chargeable as a crime if it had
been completed. .. There is no requirement under 18 U.S.C § 2422(b) that they
had to unanimously agree on the specific type of unlawful sexual activity that he
would have engaged infd. at 856 Moreover, acknowledging the existence of a
Seventh Circuit decision that reached a different ecmi@h on this same question,
United Sates v. Mannava, 565 F.3d 4127th Cir. 2009), the Sixth Circuit
disagreed with the reasoningtbft decisionas do we.Hart, 635 F.3d aB55-56.

In Mannava, the defendant had engagedimail conversations withn
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undercover detective posing as ayEarold girl and they arranged to meet at an
ice cream parlor565 F.3d at 414Indicted for violating 422(b),the defendant
was charged with “having engaged in sexual activity chargeable as criminal
offenses uder Indiana law,” in violation o§ 2422(b) Id. The defendant filed a
bill of particulars as to what that Indiana law might be and the Government
responded, identifyingvo statutes:anindiana statute that prohibits vicarious
sexual gratification (inducing a child under 16 to touch or fondle himself with an
intent to arouse) and a second statute that “forbids an adult knowingly to solicit a
child who. . .the adult believess under # to engage in sexual activityld.

On appeal, the defendant complained that the district court should have
instructedthe jury that it could convict only if itnanimouslyagreed thathe
defendant had violated one of the Indiana statuttsat 415 The Seventh Circuit
agreed.It concluded that it would be impermissible for half the jury to conclude
that the defendant had violated the fondling statute while the other half agreed only
that the defendant had violated the solicitation statitte But Mannava bases its
decision on an interpretation of § 2422(b) that is at odds with our and othef courts
interpretation of that statutesee supra at14 n9. In finding error,the Mannava
court seemetb be under the misimpression th&422(b)requires that a
defendant have actually violated the listed state statute: “The liability created by

18 U.S.C § 2422(b) depends on the defendant’s having violated another statute,
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and the elements of the offense under that other statute must therettgménsts
of the federal offense in order to preserve the requirements of jury unahimity.
Mannava, 565 F.3d at 415But as explained abovg,2422(b) doegotrequire
thata defendanactuallyviolate thelistedstate statute. It requires only that the
defendant entice, persuade, or induce a minor to perform acts that would violate
the statutéf completed orthat the defendartttempt to do s&

In summarywhen a defendant has been charged aiiolation of
§ 2422(b)by attempting® to persuade a minor to engage in sexual activity for
which any person can be charged with a criminal offense; when the intended
conduct could potentially violate more than one criminal statute; and when the
indictment lists more than one criminal offense thattindsionedsexual activity

potentially violates, the jury does not have to unanimously guess at the one statute

12 The Seventh Circuliassubsequentlfieldthat §2422(b) criminalizes persuasion (zam
attempt to persuade) rather than the underlying sexual actiwtiyed States v. Berg, 640 F.3d

239, 250-51 (7th Cir. 2011) (“Because Berg was charged with a § 2422(n)pt, the
government’s burden was to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he intended to persuade,
induce, or entice someone whom he believed was a minor to engsegeial activity—not that

he intended to engage in sexual actiVjtyBerg did not mention the earli&fannava decision.

13 Obviously, if a defendant has successfully persuaded a minor to engage in an uebaveful s
act, this will typicallymean thathe act was completed and the likelihood of multiple potential
statutory violations is greatly reduced. Indeed, in such a circumstance, the aevwetidee
charged not with attempt, but with actually enticing a minor to commit the specifictsinaa

was completed and that will be listed in the indictment. Wtigngpted persuasion, however, the
charge idased orsexualconduct not yet initiated or completed charge of attempted
persuasion—particularly when the defenddoes notonveyhis desired sex act in language that
explicitly tracks the elements of a particular offenrsearries agreater potential to implicate
multiple statute and creates a greater need for the prosecution to cover all its statutorgybases
listing each of thespotential statutes the indictment.
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thata defendant’s successful persuasion waialge violatd so long as the jury
unanimously agrees that thesixual activityto be ented would violateone of tle
listed statutebad it been successfully carried out.

C. The jurors were necessarily unanimoushat Defendant could have
been charged with secondlegree sexual abuse

Even if there were a requirement that the jury unanimously agree that a
particular statute wouldavebeenviolated by completed conduct that a defendant
attemptgo persuade a minor to engage in, that requirement was met in this case,
given theelements of thearticular statutes that were listed in the indicttnen

The indictment listed three Alabama sex offenses for which Defendant could
have been charged had he successfully persuaded Sara to erg@gal activity
with him: (1) Ala. Code§ 13A-6-62 (seconglegree rape), (Ala. Code§ 13A-6-

64 (seconebegree sodomy), and (3Ja. Code8 13A-6-67 (seconelegree sexual
abuse).As notedsupra, seconddegree rape prohibits sexual intercourse with a

minor of the opposite sex who is under the age of sixteerterm has itsrdinary

meaning and occurs uponyapenetration, however slighEeconddegree sodomy
prohibits “deviate sexual intercoursahich is defined as “[a]ny act of sexual
gratification between unmarried persons involving the sex organs of one person

and the mouth or anus of anothewjth aperson under the age of sixteesecond

degree sexual abuse makes it a crime to subject a person under the age of sixteen to

sexual condu¢twhich isdefined as “[a]ny touching of the sexual or other intimate
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parts of a person not married to the actonedfor the purposes of gratifying the
sexual desire of another partySee generallgupra at8-9.

Through his email communications, Defendam&dindicated to Sara that he
wanted to meet her so that he could make love to her. Finallgeing was set
up for that purpose at Sara’s home. Defendant then took a substantial step to
further this attempt by traveling to Sara’s apartment, where he was arrésted.
Defendant hadctually metwith Saraand made love to her via sexual intercourse,
he wouldhave violated Alabama’s secodégree rape statute. If instead
Defendant hadhadelove by engaging in the acts set out in the seetegiee
sodomy(deviate sexual intercoursgfatute, a completed act would have violated
that statute. Finally, if Defeatt hadnsteadpersuaded Sara to engage in sexual
contact, then Alabama’s seceddgree sexual abuse statute would have been
violated.

Notably,seconddegree sexual abuse necessarily occurs whenever sexual
intercourse or sodomy are performédAs defired, secondlegree sexual abuse
only requira the touching of an intimate or sexual part of another pdmon

purposes of gratifying the sexual desire of either party. Clearly, either sexual

14 Cf. Parker v. State, 581 So. 2d 1211, 1213 (Ala. Crim. App. 1990) (holding that the trial court
erred by refusing to instruct the jury on secalediree sexual abuse, which is a lesseluded
offense of firstdegree rapeXing v. Sate, 574 So. 2d 921, 928-29 (Ala. Crim. App. 1990)
(holding that firstdegree sexual abuse is a lesseluded offense of firsttegree rape);

Hutcherson v. Sate, 441 So. 2d 1048, 1052 (Ala. Crim. App. 1983) (holding that diegjree

sexual abuse is a lessacluded offense of first-degree sodomy).

25



Case: 14-13577 Date Filed: 05/26/2017 Page: 26 of 30

intercourse or sodomy would me#lttheelements required to gve sexual
contact.

So,playing out Defendant’s feared jury scenario, it becomes cleairthat
convicting him the jury wasecessarilpinanimous in concluding that, at the least,
Defendant had attempted to persuade Sara to engage in sexual comtbictthat
IS so, then the jury wagecessarilynanimous in its agreement that Defendant had
attempted to persuade a minor to engage in unlawful sexual act®ggcifically,
if we assume that four jurors thought that Defendant had ageitoppersuade
Sara to engage in sexual intercourse, those same jurors would havecaissarily
agreed that Defendant had attempted to persuade Sara to engage in sexual contact.
If four other jurors construed Defendant’s conduct as being an attempt to persuade
Sara © engage in an act of sodomy, again those jurors would necessarily have
concludel that Defendant had also attempted to persuade Sara to engage in sexual
contact. Finally, if the last four jurors believed that in saying he wantedie
love to Sara, Defedant had intendei persuade her only to engageaxual
contactthen obviously those jurofeund thatDefendant’s intent, if effectuated,
would have violated the sexual contact statute. In short, all twelve jurors
determinedat the very leasthat Defendant had attempted to persuade Sara to
engage in sexual conduct, and that is all that was required to convict Defendant of

violating § 2422(b).
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Accordingly, even if unanimity were required as to the specific sex act that
Defendanintended tcattempt to persuade Sara to perform at thegignationthe
jury was necessarily unanimous in making that finding.
[l.  CONCLUSION
For the above reasons, we reject Defendant’s contention that the district
court erred in refusing to give Defendant’s regeeahanimity charge and we

thereforeAFFIRM Defendant’s conviction.
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JORDAN, Circuit Judge, concurring in the judgment.

Differentiating between the elements of a crime and the means of
committing an offense can sometimes be difficult. As the Supreme Court
recognized irSchad v. Arizona, 501 U.S. 624, 639 (1991) (plurality opinion), there
is no “brightline test” for “deciding, as an abstract matter, what elements an
offense must comprise.”

Acknowledging that difficulty, it seems to me that the questiontather or
not a person “can be charged with a criminal offense” is an element of the offense
set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 2422(b). Our pattern jury instructions lsal/ it is an
element of the offense, and the district court instructed the jury that ielement
of the offenseSee Eleventh Circuit Criminal Pattern Jury Instructions, Offense
Instruction No. 92.2 (2016); D.E. 60 at 2%e also United Sates v. Meek, 366
F.3d 705, 718 (9th Cir. 2004) (an element of criminal liability und242&2(b) is
that a person must knowingly engage in sexual activity that would constitute a
criminal offense)Mr. Jockisch was therefore entitled to a unanimity instruction on
this element under the rationaleRthardson v. United Sates, 526 U.S. 813, 818
19 (1999)(recognizing “the tradition of requiring juror unanimity where the issue
is whether a defendant has engaged in conduct that violates the law” and

emphasizing the risk that, unless jurors are “required to focus upon speciial
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detail, [they] will fail to do so, [instead] simply concluding. that where there is
smoke there must be fire”).

| agree with, and cannot improve upon, the Seventh Circuit’s position on this
issue in a similar § 2422(b) case:

[Ilt was an error to allow the jury to convietithout a unanimous
determination that the defendant had violated one or both of the
Indiana statutes, and the error should be corrected in any retrial.
Denying that there was an error, the government argues that if half (or
some other fraction) of the ju®had agreed among themselves that
[the defendant] had violated just one of the [state] statutes and the rest
of the jurors had agreed among themselves that he had violated just
the other statute, the conviction would be valid because the offense of
which he was convicted was the federal offense of committing an
offense or offenses chargeable under state law, and the jury was
unanimous that he had committéwt offense. This reasoning leads

to the absurd conclusion, which the government’s lawyer embedced
argument while acknowledging its absurdity, that the government
could charge a defendant with violating the federal statute by violating
12 state statutes and that he could be properly convicted even though
with respect to each of the 12 state offenkk&gurors thought him
innocent and only one thought him guilty. If a furthheductio ad
absurdum is desired, imagine a federal statute that made it a crime to
commit a chargeable offense on any federal property, and a
prosecution in which the governmertacged that the defendant had
committed 25 such offenses and the jury rendered a general verdict of

guilty.
United States v. Mannava, 565 F.3d 412, 415 (7th Cir. 2009).

The majority’s rationale has an air of inevitability, but that is only because,
in this case, the government alleged and proved thatlddkisch’'s attempted
conduct (having sex with the fictional minor) would have violated at least one of

three Alabama statutes, each of which have a common element (sexual contact).
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As a result, not instating the jury on unanimity was harmles3ee generally
Neder v. United Sates, 527 U.S. 1, 1315 (1999). But that may not always be the
case.

Imagine a 8§ 2422(b) prosecution where the defendant contacts a real minor
across state linessay from Floridad Georgia—and the conversations between
the two indicate that sexual activity is planned in both states. This hypothetical is
not farfetched, as similar conduct has been charged in other § 2422(b) Caases.
United States v. Tykarsky, 446 F.3d 458, 463 n.2 (3d Cir. 2006) (alleging, in
§ 2422(b) case, that planned conduct could have been charged as statutory rape
under the laws of New Jersey and Pennsylvania).

If the government in such a case charges that the attempted sexual
conduct—whatever it may be-corstitutes various different criminal offenses
under the laws of both Florida and Georgia, and those laws share little or nothing
in common, would we allow a jury to return a verdict without unanimously
concluding whether or not the attempted conduct would have violateeralgiv?

As the Seventh Circuit explainedMannava, the answer is no.

Accordingly, and with respect, | concur in the judgment.
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